THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM COUNTY OF GREENVILLE
Court of General Sessions

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2016-002476
Indictment Nos: 2014-GS-23-06783 and 2014-GS-23-07319

RECEIVED

NOV 01 2017

SC Court of Appeals

The State of South CarolinaRespondent,

vs.

Kendall Leamon,Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Kenneth Gibson (S.C. Bar No. 0069288)
THE LAW OFFICE OF KENNETH GIBSON
Post Office Box 5536
Greenville, SC 29606
(864) 241-6699

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant and Appellant Kendall Leamon was charged with the offenses of Possession of Cocaine with the Intent to Distribute, Resisting Arrest, and Assault and Battery in the 3rd Degree. Contesting his extended detention after the traffic stop of his vehicle, Mr. Leamon filed a Motion to Suppress the evidence against him. A hearing was held on Mr. Leamon's motion prior to his trial on November 17-18, 2016. Mr. Leamon's motion was denied. Mr. Leamon was ultimately convicted of Simple Possession of Cocaine and Resisting Arrest. He was acquitted of Possession of Cocaine with Intent to Distribute and Assault and Battery in the 3rd Degree. Mr. Leamon was sentenced to three years suspended upon 90 days to be followed by 30 months of probation on the Simple Possession of Cocaine charge and one year suspended upon probation on the Resisting Arrest Charge. Mr. Leamon now appeals the Trial Court's denial of his motion to suppress and the Criminal Judgment entered against him.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 7, 2014, Appellant Kendall Leamon went to 7 Traynham Street in Greenville County, South Carolina to pick up two individuals that lived on that Street. (69-70) Upon exiting Traynham Street, Deputy Darrell Kicklighter of the Greenville County Sheriff's Office conducted a traffic stop on Mr. Leamon for allegedly failing to properly utilize his turn signal. (28).

Mr. Leamon stopped in a parking lot off of Augusta Road in Greenville County, and Kicklighter then approached Mr. Leamon's vehicle. In the vehicle with Mr. Leamon were two passengers – one in the front and one in the rear. Kicklighter asked for Mr. Leamon's drivers' license and registration. (30).

Kicklighter contends that at this time, Mr. Leamon was "extremely nervous." (30). When asked further what Mr. Leamon was doing that made Kicklighter state that he was nervous, Kicklighter stated that Mr. Leamon was "fumbling through paperwork" (30), breathing heavy, and shaking (53).

As requested, Mr. Leamon provided Kicklighter his driver's license. He didn't have the registration for the vehicle. Mr. Leamon stated that the reason why he did not was because he was borrowing the vehicle from another person. He instead went through the vehicle and gave Kicklighter all the documents that he could find in hopes that he could get her name from the documents.

Kicklighter then ran Mr. Leamon's drivers' license, identified the passengers, and checked them all for warrants. According to Kicklighter everything, in Kicklighter's own words, "checked out" - meaning presumably that the Mr. Leamon's driver's license was in order, the vehicle was not reported as stolen, and none of the vehicle occupants had any outstanding warrants. (31).

Nevertheless, despite the fact that everything had "checked out," Kicklighter decided to extend the traffic stop in order to attempt to search Mr. Leamon and his vehicle. (46) At the time that Kicklighter made the decision to extend the traffic stop, by his own admission, he had already done everything that he needed to do in regard to the need for the initial traffic stop save for actually giving Mr. Leamon a citation. (46) Moreover, by his own admission, there was nothing that kept Kicklighter from writing the citation at that point other than his desire to attempt to search Mr. Leamon and his vehicle. (Id.)

After deciding to extend the traffic stop, Kicklighter approached Mr. Leamon's vehicle again and ultimately asked him to exit the vehicle. (31-32). Mr. Leamon did as asked.

This is, however, where the stories substantially diverge. The officers claim that they noticed an unidentified object in Mr. Leamon's hand that appeared to be an amber colored pill bottle. Kicklighter contends that at this point he told Mr. Leamon that he was going to have to detain him for the officers' safety. The officers further contend that at this time Mr. Leamon shoved Deputy Curtis, another Deputy that had responded to the scene, and started to flee. The Officers further contend that at this time they saw Mr. Leamon toss an amber colored pill bottle that was later recovered and contained a quantity of cocaine sufficient to create a presumption of an intent to distribute.

Mr. Leamon, on the other hand, contends that when he got out of the car, he had his wallet in one hand and nothing in the other. He states that after he got out, Kicklighter had him place both hands flat against his vehicle and Kicklighter patted him down. Kicklighter did not locate any contraband or weapons. But after the search was over one of the other officers told Kicklighter to search him again. Mr. Leamon contends that after that he opened both hands up to show the officers that he only had his wallet in one hand and nothing in the other. Mr. Leamon contends that despite this Kicklighter reached for his arm to hand cuff him and he panicked and ran. He was ultimately caught while attempting to run up a hill. He further says that even after he stopped running he was repeatedly tased, kicked and otherwise beaten. (71-74). Mr. Leamon continues to this day to deny that he had any drugs on him. He believes that the drugs were planted by the police to provide justification for the beating that he received upon running.

Mr. Leamon, however, has no proof of this other than his word. Upon stopping Mr. Leamon, Deputy Kicklighter initiated his blue lights and activated his unit's video recorder. At a subsequent preliminary hearing and later at trial, Deputy Kicklighter confirmed that he had a video recording of his encounter with Mr. Leamon. This video would have shown the entirety of the traffic stop including where Mr. Leamon opened his hands and proved that he did not have any item including a pill bottle in his hand. However, despite acknowledging the existence of this video and despite numerous requests from Defense counsel the State failed and refused to make this video available.

Mr. Leamon was subsequently charged and called to trial on three offenses: Possession with Intent to Distribute Cocaine, Assault and Battery 3rd Degree for the alleged shove of the officer, and Resisting Arrest. Prior to trial, Mr. Leamon moved to suppress all evidence obtained after Kicklighter made the decision to extend the traffic stop in order to attempt to search Mr. Leamon and his vehicle.

At the suppression hearing, the State did not contest whether Mr. Leamon's detention had in fact been extended beyond the purpose of the initial traffic stop nor did it contend that the extended detention had become consensual. It instead argued that there existed sufficient evidence that criminal activity was occurring to justify the lengthening of the detention.

The Trial Court agreed with the State and denied Mr. Leamon's motion. In refusing to grant Mr. Leamon's motion to suppress, the Court cited the following factors to support its finding that there was sufficient evidence of criminal activity to extend the traffic stop: "extreme nervousness, car not put into park, didn't stop immediately...did not have the registration of the owner. In running his license, the officer saw he had a history or drug offenses in a high crime area." (88).

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"On appeals from a motion to suppress based on Fourth Amendment grounds, this [c]ourt applies a deferential standard of review and will reverse if there is clear error." *State v. Adams*, 409 S.C. 641, 647, 763 S.E.2d 341 (2014) (quoting *State v. Tindall*, 388 S.C. 518, 521, 698 S.E.2d 203, 205 (2010))

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS

"The Fourth Amendment guarantees '[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures....'" *State v. Provet*, 391 S.C. 494, 499, 706 S.E.2d 513, 515 (2011) (alteration in original) (quoting U.S. Const. amend. IV). "Generally, the decision to conduct a traffic stop is [a] reasonable [seizure] when the police have probable cause to believe a traffic violation has occurred." *Id.* at 499, 706 S.E.2d at 515-16 (citing *Whren v. United States*, 517 US 806, 810, 116 S.Ct. 1769, 135 L.Ed.2d 89 (1996)).

"Lengthening the detention for further questioning beyond that related to the initial stop is acceptable in two situations: (1) the officer has an objectively reasonable and articulable suspicion illegal activity has occurred or is occurring; or (2) the initial detention has become a

consensual encounter.” *Id.* at 500, 706 S.E.2d at 516 (citing *State v. Pichardo*, 367 S.C. 84, 99, 623 S.E.2d 840, 848 (2005)).

It is well settled, however, that when a traffic stop is extended beyond that related to the initial stop without either (1) objective and reasonable suspicion illegal activity has occurred or is occurring; or (2) the initial detention becoming a consensual encounter, that the appropriate remedy is for any and all evidence obtained after such lengthening to be suppressed.

Here, neither the State nor the Court disputed that Mr. Leamon was detained beyond the time necessary for the initial traffic stop. Nor has the State or the Trial Court contended that the initial detention became a consensual encounter. Instead, the State argued, and the Trial Court agreed that there the extended detention was justified due to sufficient evidence of criminal activity.

Both the State and the Trial Court, however, were wrong. There was not sufficient evidence of criminal activity to justify extending Mr. Leamon’s detention and the Motion to Suppress should have been granted.

In denying Mr. Leamon’s motion to suppress, the Trial Court cited a number of factors that it believed justified a finding that criminal activity was occurring. Those factors were: 1) Mr. Leamon being nervous; 2) Mr. Leamon allegedly not stopping immediately; 3) Mr. Leamon not having the registration to the vehicle; 4) A history of drug offenses; and 5) Mr. Leamon’s presence in a high crime area. None of these factors, however, either individually or collectively, give rise to a sufficient reasonable suspicion that Mr. Leamon was involved in criminal activity.

While nervousness may be a pertinent factor in determining reasonable suspicion, this Court has repeatedly recognized that some degree of “nervousness will almost be invariably present with a traffic stop.” *State v. Moore*, 415 S.C. 245, 254, 781 S.E.2d 897, 902 (2016), cert denied, 136 S.Ct. 2473 (2016).

While presence in a high crime area can also be a consideration of reasonable suspicion, there is no basis under these circumstances to believe that Mr. Leamon presence coming from Traynham street was indicative in any way whatsoever that he was engaged in criminal activity. First, the so called high crime area that Kicklighter sought to use to justify the stop wasn’t a high crime area at all. It was two houses – numbers 10 and 12 – on Traynham Street that police had received complaints of possible narcotics activity. Kicklighter didn’t see Mr. Leamon visit either of those two houses. He simply saw him exiting the street.

Moreover, Mr. Leamon provided a reasonable, credible, and perfectly legal explanation to the Court as to why he was on Traynham Street. He was there, because he was asked by his cousin to pick up Jason Cook and his Aunt who lived on Traynham Street. (69).

But even if Mr. Leamon had been at either 10 or 12 Traynham Street, and did not have an explanation for being there, his presence would still not be sufficient to create a reasonable suspicion that he was in fact engaged in ongoing criminal activity. See *State v. Spears*, (SC.

App. 2017) and *State v. Anderson*, 415 S.C. 441, 783 S.E.2d 51 (2016) (both finding that a Defendant's presence in a high crime area, even when considered with other factors, was insufficient to justify a finding of reasonable suspicion that a Defendant was engaged in criminal activity). See Also *State v. Hewins*, 409 S.C. 93, 760 S.E.2d 814 (2014) (Finding reasonable suspicion to extend a traffic stop did not exist when the Defendant was found driving through a known "drug hub").

The Trial Court also cited Mr. Leamon having a prior history of drug offenses. In support of this factor, Kicklighter testified that when he ran Mr. Leamon's driving record he saw a prior controlled substance violation. He was not, however, able to identify the nature of the violation or even how long ago it had occurred.¹ (44-45). He was also unable to provide any evidence, basis, nexus or foundation to support a finding that the fact the fact that Mr. Leamon had a controlled substance violation was likely to be engaged in criminal activity at the time of the time of the traffic stop. In fact, Kicklighter testified to just the opposite: When asked whether the presence of such a violation would be probative of a person being engaged in criminal activity at any time in the future, Kicklighter answered in the negative. (45). Accordingly, there was no basis whatsoever for the Court to identify that as a probative factor in determining whether Mr. Leamon was engaged in criminal activity when stopped by Kicklighter.

The Trial Court also cited the fact that Mr. Leamon did not have the owner's registration as somehow demonstrative of him being engaged in criminal activity at the time of the traffic stop. There was no evidence submitted, however, that not having the registration of the car that you are driving is indicative that you are engaged in some criminal activity. Mr. Leamon explained to the Court and to Kicklighter that he was driving a vehicle owned by someone else. He told Kicklighter where he could find the rightful owner of the car. In order to help Kicklighter, he gave him all of the documents that he could find in the car to help him find her name. More importantly, after Kicklighter checked the registration of the car, he didn't find any problems. The car wasn't reported as stolen. And according to Kicklighter everything "checked out." Accordingly, there was no evidence whatsoever that was presented, which would allow the court to see this as indicative of Mr. Leamon being engaged in criminal activity.

Finally, the Trial Court cites Mr. Leamon allegedly not stopping immediately as evidence of his being engaged in ongoing criminal activity. In addition to there not being any connection between the circumstances alleged by Kicklighter in this regard to Mr. Leamon being engaged in ongoing criminal activity, this circumstance is not even true.

Although, it is not clear from the record, the geography of Augusta Road where this traffic stop occurred is a matter of local knowledge. If one leaves Traynham Street and makes a right hand turn as Mr. Leamon did on the evening in question, they would find themselves travelling north. After travelling about a tenth of a mile they would find themselves at the intersection of Augusta and Patton Road. After travelling about another tenth of a mile they would then find themselves at the intersection of Augusta and Lydia Street. And finally, after

¹ The only controlled substance violation on Mr. Leamon's record was a simple possession of marijuana forfeiture from 2009.

travelling approximately another tenth of a mile they would find themselves at the Old Colony Furniture Store.

In trying to make it seem as if Mr. Leamon travelled an unreasonably long distance after he activated his blue lights, Kicklighter repeatedly claimed that Mr. Leamon travelled all the way to the furniture store, which would have been Old Colony Furniture Store. Kicklighter initially contended that Mr. Leamon continued to roll a “couple hundred yards” into the parking lot of “an old furniture store.” (30). Kicklighter then restated his testimony on at least two other occasions that Mr. Leamon continued to drive and did not stop until he reached the furniture store parking lot. (52-53) and (49-50).

However, even Kicklighter’s own fellow officers dispute this claim. Deputies Robert Curtis and Mason Hubber, who also responded to the scene directly contradicted this testimony. Deputy Curtis testified that Mr. Leamon in fact had stopped in the parking lot of a burned-out club that was not as far up the road as the furniture store. (63). Consistent with this testimony, Deputy Hubber testified that there were no buildings or stores at the parking lot in which Mr. Leamon had stopped, and that the closest intersection to where they had stopped was Augusta Road and Patton Road, which would have been the nearest intersection to Traynham Road and only about a tenth of a mile away. (64).

In further dispute of Kicklighter’s claims, Mr. Leamon confirmed that rather than not stopping immediately, he in fact stopped at the earliest possible opportunity upon seeing the blue lights. Specifically, Mr. Leamon testified that Kicklighter did not activate his blue lights until after Mr. Leamon had already passed the first empty parking lot. But as soon as he saw the blue lights, he pulled into the next empty parking lot. And consistent with the testimony of Deputies Curtis and Hubber it was an empty lot and not as far as the furniture store. (70).