STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-002476

RECEIVED
JAN 31 2018
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

KENDALL LEAMON,APPELLANT.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3922

W. WALTER WILKINS
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 E. North Street
Ste. 325
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8647

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion to suppress because the evidence was obtained during the course of a routine traffic stop and officers had reasonable suspicion supporting their decision to question Appellant.

Appellant fails to dispute Deputy Kicklighter had probable cause to initiate a traffic stop for his failure to utilize his turn signal.¹ Instead, he argues the traffic stop was unreasonably extended because Deputy Kicklighter did not have sufficient indicia of criminal activity to justify his extension of the stop and thus the trial judge erred in failing to grant his motion to suppress evidence. Appellant contends each individual factor used by Deputy Kicklighter to justify his questioning either possesses an innocent explanation or was not suspicious enough to justify an extension of the traffic stop. The State disagrees with Appellant's allegation of error. Initially, the State notes Deputy Kicklighter was permitted, by law, to question Appellant about matters unrelated to the traffic stop provided such questioning did not "measurably extend" the purpose of the stop. Here, Deputy Kicklighter was not required to possess reasonable suspicion of criminal activity because he initiated his "unrelated" questioning of Appellant within the relatively brief period of the initial stop. Additionally, Deputy Kicklighter's observations, while individually insufficient to create reasonable suspicion, are evidence of criminal behavior when considered in totality. Finally, even if the trial judge did not find the deputies' testimonies credible, Appellant testified he gave Deputy Kicklighter permission to perform a search before he exited the vehicle, justifying the latter's actions thereafter.

¹ See, e.g., *Whren v. United States*, 517 U.S. 806, 810 (1996) ("An automobile stop is thus subject to the constitutional imperative that it not be 'unreasonable' under the circumstances. As a general matter, the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where the police have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred.").

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). In Fourth Amendment search and seizure cases, the appellate court is limited to determining if there is any evidence to support the trial court's findings and can only reverse due to clear error. State v. Flowers, 360 S.C. 1, 5, 598 S.E.2d 725, 727 (Ct. App. 2004); see State v. Brockman, 339 S.C. 57, 66, 528 S.E.2d 661, 666 (2000) ("[W]e will review the trial court's ruling like any other factual finding and reverse if there is clear error. We will affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling."). The reviewing court may conduct its own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by the evidence. State v. Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. 62, 70, 572 S.E.2d 456, 460 (2002). However, the appellate court must affirm the trial court if there is any evidence supporting the ruling. See State v. Moore, 415 S.C. 245, 251, 781 S.E.2d 897, 900 (2016) ("[A]ppellate courts must affirm if there is any evidence to support the trial court's ruling."); State v. Morris, 411 S.C. 571, 578, 769 S.E.2d 854, 858 (2015) ("When reviewing a Fourth Amendment search and seizure case, an appellate court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling." (citation omitted)). The appellate court will not reverse merely because it would have reached a different conclusion than the trial judge. State v. Rivera, 384 S.C. 356, 361, 682 S.E.2d 307, 310 (Ct. App. 2009); see Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. at 70, 572 S.E.2d at 459 ("In State v. Brockman, . . . [w]e concluded the appellate court would not review the trial judge's ultimate determination de novo but, rather, would apply a deferential standard of review.").

Pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, "[a] police officer may stop and briefly detain and question a person for investigative purposes, without treading upon his Fourth Amendment rights, when the officer has a reasonable suspicion supported by articulable facts, short of probable cause for arrest, that the person is involved in criminal activity." State v. Blassingame,

338 S.C. 240, 248, 525 S.E.2d 535, 539 (Ct. App. 1999); see United States v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 7 (1989) ("[T]he police can stop and briefly detain a person for investigative purposes if the officer has a reasonable suspicion supported by articulable facts that criminal activity 'may be afoot,' even if the officer lacks probable cause." (citation omitted)); State v. Robinson, 306 S.C. 399, 402, 412 S.E.2d 411, 413 (1991) ("To justify a brief stop and detention, the police officer must have a reasonable suspicion that the person has been involved in criminal activity."). "Reasonable suspicion" requires a particularized and objective basis leading one to suspect another of criminal activity. See State v. Moore, 415 S.C. 245, 252, 781 S.E.2d 897, 900 (2016). The reasonable suspicion standard is less demanding than probable cause, and requires a showing considerably less than preponderance of the evidence. Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 123 (2000).

A lawful traffic stop begins at the point an officer stops a vehicle to investigate a traffic violation and "ordinarily continues, and remains reasonable, for the duration of the stop." Arizona v. Johnson, 555 U.S. 323, 333 (2009). Once a lawful traffic stop is initiated, an officer may order the driver and any passengers out of the vehicle pending completion of the stop and "may request a driver's license and vehicle registration, run a computer check, and issue a citation." State v. Pichardo, 367 S.C. 84, 98, 623 S.E.2d 840, 847 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing United States v. Sullivan, 138 F.3d 126 (4th Cir. 1998)); see Maryland v. Wilson, 519 U.S. 408, 415 (1997) ("[A]n officer making a traffic stop may order passengers to get out of the car pending completion of the stop."). "Normally, the stop ends when the police have no further need to control the scene, and inform the driver and passengers they are free to leave." Johnson, 555 U.S. at 333.

During the course of the stop, an officer can inquire into matters unrelated to the initial justification for the stop without converting the stop into something other than a lawful seizure so long as the unrelated questioning does not measurably extend the duration of the stop. Id.; see Rodriguez v. United States, 135 S. Ct. 1609, 1614 (2015) ("An officer . . . may conduct certain unrelated checks during an otherwise lawful traffic stop."); see also Muehler v. Mena, 544 U.S. 93, 100-101 (2005) (instructing additional questioning during a detention unrelated to the original purpose of the detention does not constitute an additional seizure or independent Fourth Amendment violation). Such an investigatory traffic stop must be temporary and last no longer than necessary to effectuate its purpose. Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 98, 623 S.E.2d at 848; see Rodriguez, 135 S. Ct. at 1614 ("Authority for the seizure . . . ends when tasks tied to the traffic infraction are – or reasonably should have been – completed."); see also United States v. Branch, 537 F.3d 328, 336 (4th Cir. 2008) ("The maximum acceptable length of a routine traffic stop cannot be stated with mathematical precision. Instead, the appropriate constitutional inquiry is whether the detention lasted longer than was necessary, given its purpose.").

Even if a traffic stop is initially lawful, the detention "can become unlawful if it is prolonged beyond the time reasonably required to complete [its] mission." Illinois v. Caballes, 543 U.S. 405, 407 (2005); see Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 98, 623 S.E.2d at 848 ("Once the purpose of that stop has been fulfilled, the continued detention of the car and the occupants amounts to a second detention."). However, a further detention extending the scope of a traffic stop beyond its original purpose is not automatically unconstitutional. Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 99, 623 S.E.2d at 848. Instead, continued questioning beyond the duration of an initial traffic stop is lawful and permissible where: (1) the officer has a reasonable articulable suspicion of other illegal activity; or (2) the traffic stop becomes a consensual encounter. Id.

In determining the existence of reasonable suspicion, the totality of the circumstances must be considered. Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 104, 623 S.E.2d at 85. In reviewing the totality of the circumstances, the individual factors of the traffic stop must not be considered piecemeal or in isolation. Branch, 537 F.3d at 337 ("Courts must look at the 'cumulative information available' to the officer . . . and not find a stop unjustified based merely on a 'piecemeal refutation of each individual' fact and inference[.]" (citations omitted)). Instead, all of the circumstances of the stop, including the officer's own experience and specialized training, must be considered as a whole to determine whether the officer's actions were reasonable in light of all of the information available to him at the time. See United States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 273 (2002) ("[W]e have said repeatedly that [reviewing courts] must look at the 'totality of the circumstances' of each case to see whether the detaining officer has a 'particularized and objective basis' for suspecting legal wrongdoing. The process allows officers to draw on their own experience and specialized training to make inferences from and deductions about the cumulative information available to them that 'might well elude an untrained person.'" (citations omitted)); United States v. Mason, 628 F.3d 123, 129 (4th Cir. 2010) ("[J]ust as one corner of a picture might not reveal the picture's subject or nature, each component that contributes to reasonable suspicion might not alone give rise to reasonable suspicion."). "In applying the concept of reasonable suspicion to the various facts of a case, '[i]t is the entire mosaic that counts, not single tiles.'" State v. Wallace, 392 S.C. 47, 52, 707 S.E.2d 451, 453 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting United States v. Whitehead, 849 F.2d 849, 858 (4th Cir. 1988)). Thus, the presence of several factors seemingly consistent with innocent travel can establish reasonable suspicion when viewed together in totality. Sokolow, 490 U.S. at 9.

Deputy Kicklighter's Questions were a Permissible Extension of the Traffic Stop

Initially the State notes Deputy Kicklighter’s questioning of Appellant, regardless of his reasonable suspicion of criminal activity, was a permissible extension of the stop under the law. Law enforcement officers can inquire into matters unrelated to the initial purpose(s) of a traffic stop provided those questions do not measurably extend the traffic stop. See Johnson, 555 U.S. at 333. Deputy Kicklighter asked Appellant to step outside of the vehicle for such questioning. However before he could do so, Deputy Curtis observed the pill bottle in Appellant’s hand. When confronted with the observation, Appellant lied. Deputy Kicklighter, confronted with a suspicious individual who denied holding and continued to obscure an item in his hand, justifiably decided to handcuff Appellant and search him as a matter of safety. See Muehler, 544 U.S. at 100 (approving the use of handcuffs while detaining individuals during a search because they “minimize[] the risk of harm to both officers and occupants” in “inherently dangerous” situations). Subsequently, Appellant’s assault of Deputy Curtis and flight from Deputy Kicklighter’s attempt to restrain him were probable cause for his arrest, or at the very least further evidence to support Deputy Kicklighter’s reasonable suspicion that Appellant was engaged in criminal activity. See, e.g., Virginia v. Moore, 553 U.S. 164, 178 (2008) (“When officers have probable cause to believe that a person has committed a crime in their presence, the Fourth Amendment permits them to make an arrest . . .”). Thus, Appellant’s actions during Deputy Kicklighter’s permissible, brief extension of the stop created an independent basis for his arrest and search.

Reasonable Suspicion

However, even if this Court finds Deputy Kicklighter required reasonable suspicion of criminal activity to continue his questioning of Appellant, the evidence in the record supports such a finding. Appellant argues reasonable suspicion did not exist by claiming each individual

factor relied upon by Deputy Kicklighter was, at a minimum, inconclusive evidence of criminal activity. However, such a piecemeal analysis is not the standard for reviewing reasonable suspicion. See Branch, 537 F.3d at 337 ("Courts must look at the 'cumulative information available' to the officer . . . and not find a stop unjustified based merely on a 'piecemeal refutation of each individual' fact and inference[.]" (citations omitted)). When viewed in tandem, Deputy Kicklighter's observations support his reasonable suspicion that Appellant was engaged in criminal activity. Importantly, Deputy Kicklighter observed: (1) Appellant leaving a dead-end street associated with repeated "narcotics transactions"; (2) Appellant failed to immediately yield for the traffic stop; (3) Appellant exhibited extreme nervousness throughout the stop so severe he neglected to shift the car into park throughout the stop and even failed to do so before exiting the vehicle; (4) Appellant did not possess the registration and proof of insurance for the vehicle he was driving; (5) Appellant and at least one of the passengers had prior drug violations; and (6) Appellant claimed he had been attending a party at a nearby hotel closely associated with narcotics crimes and prostitution. Yet the most suspicious fact discovered by Deputy Kicklighter was Appellant's inability to identify the owner of the vehicle he was driving, an issue Appellant wholly ignores in his brief. Viewed in tandem, these facts indicate Appellant was engaged in some type of criminal behavior and more than justified Deputy Kicklighter's decision to ask Appellant additional questions. See Arvizu, 534 U.S. at 273 (stating the totality of the circumstances of a situation, viewed through the lens of an officer's training, are what allow an officer to determine reasonable suspicion of criminal activity).

Appellant's Consent to the Search

Finally, the trial judge could not have erred in denying the motion to suppress because Appellant testified the traffic stop was extended only after he agreed to allow Deputy Kicklighter

to perform a search. Because he agreed to extend the duration and scope of the traffic stop, the continued questioning was permissible regardless Deputy Kicklighter's suspicions. See Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 99, 623 S.E.2d at 848 (stating continued questioning beyond the duration of an initial traffic stop is lawful and permissible where: (1) the officer has a reasonable articulable suspicion of other illegal activity; or (2) the traffic stop becomes a consensual encounter).

Accordingly, the trial judge did not err in denying Appellant's motion to suppress evidence.

CONCLUSION